brought to you by **CORE** 

Life Sciences 91 (2012) 517-521

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

## Life Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/lifescie

# Endothelin receptor antagonists for the treatment of pulmonary artery hypertension

## Lewis J. Rubin\*

Review

University of California, San Diego School of Medicine, La Jolla, CA, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 January 2012 Accepted 26 July 2012

Keywords: Endothelin Pulmonary artery hypertension Endothelin receptor antagonists

### ABSTRACT

*Aims:* The demonstration that endothelin production is upregulated in pulmonary artery hypertension (PAH) served as the rationale for developing endothelin-receptor antagonists (ERAs) as a treatment for PAH. This article reviews the primary studies demonstrating efficacy of ERAs in PAH.

Main methods: Multicenter, placebo-controlled trials and open-label extension studies.

*Key findings:* Two orally active ERAs are currently approved for the treatment of PAH – the dual receptor antagonist bosentan, and the more selective  $ET_A$  receptor antagonist ambrisentan-based on multicenter randomized clinical trials demonstrating efficacy and safety. Long-term experience with both agents supports maintenance of therapeutic effects in most patients. Adverse effects, including altered liver function and edema may occur and require careful monitoring.

*Significance:* Despite failure to demonstrate efficacy of ERAs in other cardiopulmonary conditions, ERAs have a major role in the treatment algorithm for PAH.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

#### Contents

Introduction	517
Physiology	518
Endothelin-1 production	518
Endothelin receptors	518
Pathophysiology	519
Idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension	519
Other pulmonary vascular diseases	519
Clinical use of endothelin receptor antagonists	519
Ambrisentan	519
Bosentan	519
Future directions	520
Conflict of interest statement	520
Appendix A Supplementary data	520
Réferences	520
	020

#### Introduction

The endothelins are a family of 21-amino acid peptides that play a key role in the regulation of vascular tone. The first member of this family identified was endothelin-1 (ET-1), a 2492 Da peptide with potent vasoconstrictor properties, isolated by Yanagisawa et al. (1988).

\* Tel.: +1 858 551 1283.

*E-mail address:* ljr@lewisrubinmd.com.

Two additional endothelin isopeptides, endothelin-2 (ET-2) and endothelin-3 (ET-3), were subsequently discovered (Inoue et al., 1989a). All three of these proteins share a high degree of amino acid homology. They also bear structural similarity to a family of peptides labeled sarafotoxins which were isolated from the venom of the snake *Atractaspis engaddensis*, suggesting a possible shared evolutionary origin (Takasaki et al., 1988).

Vascular endothelial cells are the major source of endothelins in humans. However, genes encoding the endothelin peptides are also found in a wide range of additional cell types including bronchial



<sup>0024-3205 © 2012</sup> Elsevier Inc. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2012.07.033

epithelium, macrophages, cardiac myocytes, glomerular mesangium, and glial cells, among others (Mattoli et al., 1990; Yu and Davenport, 1995; Ehrenreich et al., 1990; Miyauchi and Masaki, 1999).

The years following the discovery of endothelins saw an explosion of basic research into these compounds (Michael and Markewitz, 1996). This has led clinicians to postulate numerous potential applications to the manipulation of the endothelin system: including the treatment of renal diseases, systemic hypertension and cerebral vasospasm (Michael and Markewitz, 1996; Benigni and Remuzzi, 1999).

It is in the therapy of pulmonary vascular disease, however, that endothelin biology has, thus far, shown its greatest penetration into the clinical arena. This article will review the current understanding of the role of endothelins in the physiology and pathophysiology of the pulmonary circulation, as well as the clinical experiences gained from the use of endothelin receptor antagonists in the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension.

#### Physiology

Although marked structural similarity among the endothelins results in significant areas of overlapping biologic function, these compounds are not as similar as they first may appear. The human genes for ET-1, ET-2 and ET-3 are each located on different chromosomes (Michael and Markewitz, 1996). Furthermore, the distribution of the three endothelin proteins throughout different tissues appears to be quite heterogeneous. Endothelial cells, including those of the pulmonary circulation, predominantly generate ET-1. Kidney cells appear to express higher levels of ET-2 (Masaki, 1998). ET-3 has been found in high concentrations in the intestine and brain (Shinmi et al., 1989; Levin, 1995). Each of these three compounds seems to have a distinct physiologic role that guides their site(s) of expression. Our understanding of these unique yet overlapping roles remains incomplete.

#### Endothelin-1 production

The human ET-1 gene is located on the telomeric region of chromosome 6p (Michael and Markewitz, 1996). The ET-1 gene includes five exons that encode mRNA for a large precursor protein: preproendothelin-1 (PPET-1).

Unlike some other proteins, ET-1 is not kept in secretory granules (Nakamura et al., 1990) within cells. The rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of ET-1 occurs at the level of transcription (Yanagisawa et al., 1988). Many stimuli that regulate ET-1 production have evolved through direct action upon transcription factors (Abstract figure). It appears that vascular endothelial cells are able to rapidly increase or inhibit ET-1 production to regulate vascular tone (Inoue et al., 1989b).

The majority of ET-1 secreted from cultured endothelial cells occurs from the abluminal side of the cells towards the adjacent vascular smooth muscle cells, which contain specific endothelin receptors (Yoshimoto et al., 1991). Thus, it is important to note that although circulating ET-1 can be detected in the plasma, and may have important clinical correlations with pulmonary vascular disease (Table 1), these

#### Table 1

Conditions associated with pulmonary hypertension in which ET-1 levels are increased.

Idiopathic pulmonary artery hypertension, persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn CREST syndrome Eisenmenger syndrome Mitral stenosis Congestive heart failure Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, interstitial lung disease High altitude exposure Obstructive sleep apnea

Pulmonary hypertension after heart surgery (cardiopulmonary bypass)

plasma levels may not necessarily reflect the paracrine action of ET-1 on adjacent smooth muscle cells.

#### Endothelin receptors

There are two distinct receptors for the endothelin family of peptides, endothelin receptor A ( $ET_A$ ) and endothelin receptor B ( $ET_B$ ). The endothelin receptors belong to the family of receptors connected to guanine nucleotide-binding (G) proteins (Takuwa et al., 1990). The two receptors have unique locations (Benigni, 1995) and binding affinities (Masaki, 1998) for the endothelin peptides.  $ET_A$  receptors are expressed on pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells, and have high affinity for ET-1 and ET-2, with less affinity for ET-3.  $ET_B$  receptors are located on both pulmonary vascular endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells.  $ET_B$  receptors bind all three endothelin isoforms with nearly equal affinity.

When activated, the ET<sub>A</sub> receptor located in the pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells mediates vasoconstriction. The mechanism is thought to occur via G protein induced phospholipase C activation; 1,4,5-inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) formation; and the consequent release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores (Takuwa et al., 1990). There is some evidence that ET<sub>A</sub> receptor may also increase intracellular calcium by activating non-selective calcium channels on the surface of the smooth muscle cell (Iwamuro et al., 1999). The vasoconstriction induced by ET<sub>A</sub> has been shown to persist even after ET-1 is removed from the receptor, likely due to persistently elevated concentrations of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Clarke et al., 1989).

In addition to its powerful vasoconstricting effects, ET-1 is known to be a potent mitogen, with the ability to induce cell proliferation in a number of cell types, including vascular smooth muscle cells (Chua et al., 1992). It has been shown that the mitogenic actions of ET-1 are mediated by both the  $ET_A$  (Davie et al., 2002) and  $ET_B$  (Sugawara et al., 1996) receptors. In the pathogenesis of PAH, ET-1 is thought to both produce vasoconstriction and stimulate vasoproliferation. In the pulmonary vasculature, ET<sub>B</sub> receptors are predominantly expressed on endothelial cells (Sakurai et al., 1990; Hirata et al., 1993). ET<sub>B</sub> receptors on endothelial cells mediate vasodilation via increased production of nitric oxide and prostacyclin (Hirata et al., 1993; De Nucci et al., 1988; Filep et al., 1991). Nitric oxide and prostacyclin also negatively feedback on ET-1 activity by inhibition of PPET-1 transcription: In the setting of PAH, where both endothelial nitric oxide and prostacyclin production are impaired, the pathogenic properties of overexpressed ET-1 are, therefore, unopposed by these counter-regulatory molecules. Inflammation may also play a pathogenic role in some forms of PAH, and endothelin may be upregulated in this setting, as well.

 $ET_B$  receptors contribute to the clearance of circulating ET-1, likely due to internalization of the ET-1/ET<sub>B</sub> receptor complex into the cell after binding (Dupuis et al., 1996b).

It has been observed that the normal human lung removes roughly 50% of circulating ET-1, and that it releases a similar quantity, resulting in the lack of an arterial-to-venous ET-1 gradient across the pulmonary vasculature in the normal state (Dupuis et al., 1996a).

There are data suggesting that the  $ET_B$  receptor does not exclusively mediate pulmonary vasodilation. Under some circumstances it may actually contribute to pulmonary vasoconstriction, through a population of  $ET_B$  receptors located on vascular smooth muscle cells (Masaki, 1995). The vasoconstrictive actions of  $ET_B$  receptors may become more pronounced in the pathologic setting of pulmonary hypertension (Dupuis et al., 2000) than in the normal pulmonary vasculature. It has been postulated that this action may result from down-regulation of  $ET_A$  receptors in states of pulmonary hypertension, possibly as an adaptive response to high levels of circulating ET-1 (Kuc and Davenport, 2000).

The vasoconstrictive actions of the  $ET_B$  receptor may confer a therapeutic advantage to the strategy of dual  $ET_A/ET_B$  receptor blockade over selective  $\text{ET}_{\text{A}}$  receptor blockade in the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension.

#### Pathophysiology

The endothelins are thought to participate in the pathophysiology of a spectrum of pulmonary vascular diseases. The extent to which the endothelin system is involved in each disease affecting the pulmonary circulation is not completely understood, however similarities in the pathogenesis of this family of disorders suggest that endothelin biology has broad applicability. The evidence for the role of the endothelin system in the pathophysiology of several individual pulmonary vascular diseases will be subsequently reviewed.

#### Idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension

Patients with idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension (IPAH) demonstrate higher serum levels of ET-1 and higher arterial-to-venous ratios of ET-1 than healthy controls (Stewart et al., 1991). This phenomenon may represent increased production of ET-1 by the lung, reduced clearance by the lung, or a combination of these processes. Lung specimens from patients with IPAH, when compared to those from patients without pulmonary hypertension, exhibit increased ET-1 staining of the muscular pulmonary arteries and increased expression of PPET-1 in the endothelial cells of the same vessels (Giaid et al., 1993). There is furthermore a correlation between the intensity of staining for ET-1 and the patients' hemodynamic measurements of pulmonary vascular resistance. Recent studies have shown increased Endothelin Converting Enzyme-1 (ECE-1) in the pulmonary vascular endothelial cells of IPAH patients (Giaid, 1998), and increased net pulmonary clearance of ET-1 in patients with IPAH treated with continuous intravenous epoprostenol (Langleben et al., 1999).

#### Other pulmonary vascular diseases

Pulmonary hypertension from chronic hypoxia has been shown in animal models to be associated with increased ET-1 and ET<sub>A</sub> expression (Chen and Oparil, 2000; Chen et al., 1997). In these models, it is also notable that dual  $ET_A/ET_B$  receptor blockade resulted in amelioration of pulmonary hypertensive changes (Eddahibi et al., 1995). Interestingly, rat models have also demonstrated regional differences in endothelin expression throughout the lung, leading some authors to suggest that heterogeneity of the endothelin system may help to regulate local responses to hypoxia in the pulmonary circulation (Takahashi et al., 2001a, 2001b). Detailed human investigations into the role of the endothelin system in chronic hypoxemia have not been reported to date.

Pulmonary hypertension from congenital cardiac disease has been shown in human investigations to correlate with high levels ET<sub>A</sub> receptor density and circulating ET-1, which in some instances decreased following surgical correction of the cardiac lesions (Bando et al., 1997; Ishikawa et al., 1995; Lutz et al., 1999). The development of hypoxemia in patients with congenital shunts may be an additional factor which magnifies the detrimental effects of ET-1 (Allen et al., 1993).

*Chronic Thromboembolic Pulmonary Hypertension (CTEPH)* has been associated with increased activity of the ET-1 system in both animal (Kim et al., 2000a, 2000b) and human (Bauer et al., 2002) pathologic studies. Pulmonary hypertensive changes were attenuated in the presence of dual  $ET_A/ET_B$  receptor blockade in a canine model of CTEPH (Kim et al., 2000a). It is known that many patients with CTEPH have a concomitant small vessel vasculopathy which can limit the hemodynamic improvement following pulmonary endarterectomy. These data suggest that endothelin may play a role in this process.

Persistent Pulmonary Hypertension of the Newborn (PPHN) has been associated with increased ET-1 expression and ETA receptor activity in a number of animal studies, involving several different models of PPHN (Ivy et al., 1994, 1998; Okazaki et al., 1998; Shima et al., 2000). Clinical studies of human babies with PPHN (Christou et al., 1997; Kumar et al., 1996; MacDonald et al., 1999; Rosenberg et al., 1993) have also revealed elevated levels of circulating ET-1, which appear to correlate with other markers of disease severity.

#### Clinical use of endothelin receptor antagonists

There are currently 2 endothelin receptor antagonists commercially available for the treatment of PAH, ambrisentan, and bosentan. These agents were approved based on results of 12–16 week randomized, placebo-controlled trials demonstrating their efficacy in improving exercise capacity, as measured by the 6-minute walk test. Long-term, open label studies have confirmed the benefits of this class of medication. A third ERA, sitaxsentan, a highly selective ET<sub>A</sub>-receptor antagonist, was approved for marketing in Europe based on two randomized trials demonstrating similar effects on 6-minute walk test, hemodynamics, and quality of life parameters as the other two agents; however, sitaxsentan was withdrawn from marketing and further development when several cases of fatal hepatic failure were reported with its use.

#### Ambrisentan

Ambrisentan is a specific ET<sub>A</sub> receptor antagonist approved for PAH, functional classes II and III at doses of 5 mg or 10 mg once daily. Following a Phase 2, dosing study showing favorable pulmonary hemodynamic effects (Galie et al., 2005), two randomized controlled trials (ARIES 1 and ARIES 2) of ambrisentan (ARIES 1: 5 mg, 10 mg, placebo; ARIES 2: 2.5 mg, 5 mg, placebo) were performed, enrolling a total of 394 patients (Galie et al). Both trials achieved the primary endpoint of placebo-corrected improvement in 6-minute walk distance. In ARIES-2, there was a significant improvement in time to clinical worsening in the treatment group as compared with placebo. There was a trend towards improvement in time to clinical worsening in the ARIES-1 study, but it was not statistically significant (p= 0.307). World Health Organization (WHO) functional class improvement was significant in ARIES-1 and there was trend towards improvement in ARIES-2 but did not reach statistical significance (p=0.117). 298 patients were enrolled and followed in the long-term extension study over 48 weeks. Eighteen patients required additional therapies (prostanoids or phosphodiesterase type-5 [PDE-5] inhibitors). Of the 280 patients continued on ambrisentan monotherapy, the improvement in 6-minute walk test (6-MWT) at 12 weeks was 40 m and maintained at 39 m. Although there were no patients with elevations in serum aminotransferases >3 times upper limit of normal while on ambrisentan, in the trials, long-term follow-up has revealed cases of transaminase elevations which resolve upon discontinuation of ambrisentan.

#### Bosentan

Bosentan is a potent, non-peptide, oral endothelin A and B receptor antagonists, with higher affinity for the ET<sub>A</sub> subtype receptor. Bosentan received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval November 2001 for patients with WHO functional class III or IV PAH. The first double-blind, placebo-controlled trial randomized 32 patients with IPAH (84%) or PAH associated with scleroderma with NYHA class III to bosentan or placebo for 12 weeks (Channick et al., 2001). The primary endpoint was the placebo-corrected change in 6-MWT, with secondary endpoints including change in pulmonary hemodynamics, WHO functional class, *Borg* dyspnea index and clinical worsening. The placebo-corrected improvement in 6-MWT was 76 m in favor of the bosentan group, In addition, pulmonary hemodynamics, especially cardiac index and pulmonary vascular resistance were favorably affected by bosentan. There were asymptomatic increases in liver aminotransferases in 2 patients on bosentan, but these returned to baseline without discontinuing or changing the dose.

The larger BREATHE-1 (bosentan randomized trial of endothelin antagonist therapy) trial, which randomized 213 patients with IPAH (70%) and pulmonary hypertension associated with connective tissue disease with WHO functional classes III and IV to placebo or bosentan at 125 mg or 250 mg twice daily, confirmed the efficacy and safety of bosentan over 16 weeks (Rubin et al., 2002). At 16 weeks, a placebo-corrected 6MWD improvement of 44 m was noted (p<0.001). There were also improvements in the *Borg* dyspnea score and time to clinical worsening in both bosentan groups. Increases in liver aminotransferases greater than 8 times upper limit of normal was again noted in the bosentan group and was dose-dependent with 2 patients in the 125 mg group and 5 patients in the 250 mg group.

In addition to the above "pivotal" trials of bosentan, a randomized controlled trial of bosentan in PAH patients less functionally impaired (WHO class II), the EARLY trial, demonstrated a benefit in reducing pulmonary vascular resistance and preventing clinical worsening at 6 months. No statistically significant effect on 6-minute walk distance was seen, although baseline walk distance was greater than 400 m, confirming that this cohort had better baseline exercise capacity (Galiè et al., 2008).

Bosentan has also been studied in a controlled fashion in patients with congenital heart disease (Galiè et al., 2006). The BREATHE 5 study demonstrated that, compared to placebo, bosentan improved six minute walk distance without worsening hypoxemia.

Long-term survival data in patients on bosentan, although uncontrolled, has been published. Of the 169 IPAH patients enrolled in the 2 pivotal trials of bosentan, estimated survival at 1 and 2 years was 96% and 89% respectively, as compared to the predicted survival of 69% and 57% (McLaughlin et al., 2005). (based on a validated NIH equation calculating predicted survival from baseline hemodynamics). It should be acknowledged that there are no prospective controlled survival data with the newer agents, given obvious ethical concerns about such trials in the era of existing therapy.

As noted above, ERAs as a class have a propensity for inducing liver function abnormalities, with a spectrum of severity ranging from sitaxsentan as the most frequent and causing the most severe hepatic dysfunction to ambrisentan causing less severe dysfunction and with greater infrequency. Current regulatory guidelines mandate monthly monitoring of liver function in patients receiving bosentan, while this requirement has been removed for ambrisentan based on a review of safety data from a large cohort of patients treated for several years. Nevertheless, periodic monitoring of liver function in patients receiving ambrisentan is still advised.

#### Future directions

The next steps in the research of endothelin receptor antagonists for the therapy of PAH appear to have promise. Questions which remain to be answered include the role of endothelin receptor antagonists in: (a) long-term efficacy on morbidity and mortality of ERAs in combination with other agents (b) upfront combination therapy strategies, for example with a prostanoid or PDE-5 inhibitor, and (c) expanded disease indications, such as for CTEPH or fibrotic lung disease.

#### Conflict of interest statement

The author is a consultant of Actelion, Gilead, Pfizer, United Therapeutics, GeNO, and AIRES.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2012.07.033.

#### References

- Allen SW, Chatfield BA, Koppenhafer SA, Schaffer MS, Wolfe RR, Abman SH. Circulating immunoreactive endothelin-1 in children with pulmonary hypertension. Association with acute hypoxic pulmonary vasoreactivity. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993;148: 519–22.
- Bando K, Vijayaraghavan P, Turrentine MW, Sharp TG, Ensing GJ, Sekine Y. Dynamic changes of endothelin-1, nitric oxide, and cyclic GMP in patients with congenital heart disease. Circulation 1997;96(Suppl. II):II 346–51.
- Bauer M, Wilkens H, Langer F, Schneider SO, Lausberg H, Schäfers HJ. Selective upregulation of endothelin B receptor gene expression in severe pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 2002;105:1034–6.
- Benigni A. Defining the role of endothelins in renal pathophysiology on the basis of selective and unselective endothelin receptor antagonist studies. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 1995;4:349–53.

Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Endothelin antagonists. Lancet 1999;353:133-8.

- Channick RN, Simonneau G, Sitbon O, Robbins IM, Frost A, Tapson VF. Effects of the dual endothelin-receptor antagonist bosentan in patients with pulmonary hypertension: a randomized placebo controlled study. Lancet 2001;358:1119–23.
- Chen SJ, Chen YF, Opgenorth TJ, Wessale JL, Meng QC, Durand J. The orally active nonpeptide endothelin A-receptor antagonist A-127722 prevents and reverses hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension and pulmonary vascular remodelling in Sprague–Dawley rats. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1997;29:713–25.
- Chen Y, Oparil S. Endothelin and pulmonary hypertension. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2000;35(Suppl. 2):S49–53.
- Christou H, Adatia I, Van Marter LJ, Kane JW, Thompson JE, Stark AR. Effect of inhaled nitric oxide on endothelin-1 and cyclic guanosine 5'-monophosphate plasma concentrations in newborn infants with persistent pulmonary hypertension. J Pediatr 1997;130:603–11.
- Chua BH, Krebs CJ, Chua CC, Diglio CA. Endothelin stimulates protein synthesis in smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 1992;262:E412–6.
- Clarke JG, Benjamin N, Larkin SW, Webb DJ, Davies GJ, Maseri A. Endothelin is a potent long-lasting vasoconstrictor in men. Am J Physiol 1989;257:H2033–5.
- Davie N, Haleen SJ, Upton PD, Polak JM, Yacoub MH, Morrell NW. ET<sub>A</sub> and ET<sub>B</sub> receptors modulate the proliferation of human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;165:398–405.
- De Nucci G, Thomas R, D'Orleans-Juste P, Antunes E, Walder C, Warner TD. Pressor effects of circulating endothelin are limited by its removal in the pulmonary circulation and by the release of prostacyclin and endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85:9797–800.
- Dupuis J, Stewart DJ, Cernacek P, Gosselin G. Human pulmonary circulation is an important site for both clearance and procuction of endothelin-1. Circulation 1996a;94:1578–84.
- Dupuis J, Jasmin JF, Prié S, Cernacek P. Importance of local production of endothelin-1 and of the  $ET_B$  receptor in the regulation of pulmonary vascular tone. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 2000;13:135–40.

Dupuis J, Goresky C, Fournier A. Pulmonary clearance of circulating endothelin-1 in dogs in vivo: exclusive role of ET<sub>B</sub> receptors. J Appl Physiol 1996b;81(4):1510–5.

- Eddahibi S, Raffestin B, Clozel M, Levame M, Adnot S. Protection from pulmonary hypertension with an orally active endothelin receptor antagonist in hypoxic rats. Am J Physiol 1995;268:H828–35.
- Ehrenreich H, Anderson RW, Fox CH, Rieckmann P, Hoffman GS, Travis WD. Endothelins, peptides with potent vasoactive properties, are produced by human macrophages. J Exp Med 1990;172:1741–8.
- Filep JG, Hermán F, Battistini B, Chabrier PE, Braquet P, Sirois P. Antiaggregatory and hypotensive effects of endothelin-1 in beagle dogs: role for prostacyclin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1991;17(Suppl. 7):S216–8.
- Galié N, Badesch D, Oudiz R, Simonneau G, McGoon MD, Keogh AM. Ambrisentan therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:529–35.
- Galiè N, Beghetti M, Gatzoulis MA, Granton J, Berger RM, Lauer A, et al. Bosentan therapy in patients with Eisenmenger syndrome: a multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Circulation 2006;114(1):48–54.
- Galiè N, Olschewski H, Oudiz RJ, Torres F, Frost A, Ghofrani HA, et al. Ambrisentan for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension: results of the ambrisentan in pulmonary arterial hypertension, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter, efficacy (ARIES) study 1 and 2. Circulation 2008;117(23):3010–9.
- Galiè N, Rubin Lj, Hoeper M, Jansa P, Al-Hiti H, Meyer G. Treatment of patients with mildly symptomatic pulmonary arterial hypertension with bosentan (EARLY study): a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Lancet 2008;37:2093–100.
- Giaid A. Nitric oxide and endothelin-1 in pulmonary hypertension. Chest 1998;114(3): S208-12.
- Giaid A, Yanagisawa M, Langleben D, Michel RP, Levy R, Shennib H. Expression of endothelin-1 in the lungs of patients with pulmonary hypertension. N Engl J Med 1993;328:1732–9.
- Hirata Y, Emori T, Eguchi S. Endothelin receptor subtype B mediates synthesis of nitric oxide by cultured bovine endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 1993;91:1367–73.
- Inoue A, Yanagisawa M, Kimura S, Kasuya Y, Miyauchi T, Goto K. The human endothelin family: three structurally and pharmacologically distinct isopeptides predicted by three separate genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989a;86:2863–7.
- Inoue A, Yanagisawa M, Takuwa Y, Mitsui Y, Kobayashi M, Masaki T. The human preproendothelin-1 gene. Complete nucleotide sequence and regulation of expression. J Biol Chem 1989b;264(25):14954–9.
- Ishikawa S, Miyauchi T, Sakai S, Ushinohama H, Sagawa K, Fusazaki N. Elevated levels of plasma endothelin-1 in young patients with pulmonary hypertension caused by congenital heart disease are decreased after successful surgical repair. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1995;110:271–3.

- Ivy DD, Le Cras TD, Horan MP, Abman SH. Increased lung preproET-1 and decreased ET<sub>B</sub> receptor gene expression in fetal pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol 1998;274: L535-41.
- Ivy D, Kinsella J, Abman S. Physiologic characterization of endothelin A and B receptor activity in the ovine fetal pulmonary circulation. J Clin Invest 1994;93: 2141–8.
- Iwamuro Y, Miwa S, Zhang XF, Minowa T, Enoki T, Okamoto Y. Activation of three types of voltage-independent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel in A7r5 cells by endothelin-1 as revealed by a novel Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blocker LOE 908. Br J Pharmacol 1999:126:1107–14.
- Kim H, Yung GL, Marsh JJ, Konopka RG, Pedersen CA, Chiles PG. Endothelin mediates pulmonary vascular remodelling in a canine model of chronic embolic pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 2000a;15:640–8.
- Kim H, Yung GL, Marsh JJ, Konopka RG, Pedersen CA, Chiles PG. Pulmonary vascular remodeling distal to pulmonary artery ligation is accompanied by upregulation of endothelin receptors and nitric oxide synthase. Exp Lung Res 2000b;26(4):287–301.
- Kuc R, Davenport A. Endothelin-A-receptors in human aorta and pulmonary arteries are downregulated in patients with cardiovascular disease: an adaptive response to increased levels of endothelin-1? J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2000;36(Suppl. 1): S377–9.
- Kumar P, Kazzi N, Shankaran S. Plasma immunoreactive endothelin-1 concentrations in infants with persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Am J Perinatol 1996;13(6):335–41.
- Langleben D, Barst RJ, Badesch D, Groves BM, Tapson VF, Murali S. Continuous infusion of epoprostenol improves the net balance between pulmonary endothelin-1 clearance and release in primary pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 1999;99: 3266–71.
- Levin E. Endothelins. N Engl J Med 1995;333(6):356-63.
- Lutz J, Gorenflo M, Habighorst M, Vogel M, Lange PE, Hocher B. Endothelin-1 and endothelin receptors in lung biopsies of patients with pulmonary hypertension due to congenital heart disease. Clin Chem Lab Med 1999;37(4):423–8.
- Macdonald PD, Paton RD, Logan RW, Skeoch CH, Davis CF. Endothelin-1 levels in infants with pulmonary hypertension receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Perinat Med 1999;27:216–20.
- Masaki T. Possible role of endothelin in endothelial regulation of vascular tone. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1995;35:235–55.
- Masaki T. The discovery of endothelins. Cardiovasc Res 1998;39:530-3.
- Mattoli S, Mezzetti M, Riva G, Allegra L, Fasoli A. Specific binding of endothelin on human bronchial smooth muscle cells in culture and secretion of endothelin-like material from bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990;3:145–51.
- McLaughlin VV, Sitbon O, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Black C, Galiè N. Survival with first-line bosentan in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 2005;25: 244–9.
- Michael J, Markewitz B. Endothelins and the lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;154: 555–81.
- Miyauchi T, Masaki T. Pathophysiology of endothelin in the cardiovascular system. Annu Rev Physiol 1999;61:391–415.

- Nakamura S, Naruse M, Naruse K, Demura H, Uemura H. Immunocytochemical localization of endothelin in cultured bovine endothelial cells. Histochemistry 1990;94: 475–7.
- Okazaki T, Sharma HS, McCune SK, Tibboel D. Pulmonary vascular balance in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: enhanced endothelin-1 gene expression as a possible cause of pulmonary vasoconstriction. J Pediatr Surg 1998;33(1):81–4.
- Rosenberg AA, Kennaugh J, Koppenhafer SL, Loomis M, Chatfield BA, Abman SH. Elevated immunoreactive endothelin-1 levels in newborn infants with persistent pulmonary hypertension. J Pediatr 1993;123:109–14.
- Rubin LJ, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Galie N, Black CM, Keogh A. Bosentan therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension. N Engl | Med 2002;346(12):896–903.
- Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M, Takuwa Y, Miyazaki H, Kimura S, Goto K. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a non-isopeptide-selective subtype of the endothelin receptor. Nature 1990;348:732–5.
- Shima H, Oue T, Taira Y, Miyazaki E, Puri P. Antenatal dexamethasone enhances endothelin receptor B expression in hypoplastic lung in nitrofen-induced diaphragmatic hernia in rats. J Pediatr Surg 2000;35(2):203–7.
- Shinmi O, Kimura S, Sawamura T, Sugita Y, Yoshizawa T, Uchiyama Y. Endothelin-3 is a novel neuropeptide: isolation and sequence determination of endothelin-1 and endothelin-3 in porcine brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1989;164(1): 587–93.
- Stewart DJ, Levy RD, Cernacek P, Langleben D. Increased plasma endothelin-1 in pulmonary hypertension: marker or mediator of disease? Ann Intern Med 1991;114:464–9.
- Sugawara F, Ninomiya H, Okamoto Y, Miwa S, Mazda O, Katsura Y. Endothelin-1-induced mitogenic responses of chinese hamster ovary cells expressing human endothelin A: the role of a wortmannin-sensitive signalling pathway. Mol Pharmacol 1996;49(3): 447–57.
- Takahashi H, Soma S, Muramatsu M, Oka M, Ienaga H, Fukuchi Y. Discrepant distribution of big endothelin (ET)-1 and ET receptors in the pulmonary artery. Eur Respir J 2001a;18:5-14.
- Takahashi H, Soma S, Muramatsu M, Oka M, Fukuchi Y. Upregulation of ET-1 and its receptors and remodelling in small pulmonary veins under hypoxic conditions. Am J Physiol 2001b;280:L1104–14.
- Takasaki C, Tamiya N, Bdolah A, Wollberg Z, Kochva E. Sarafotoxins S6: several isotoxins from Atractaspis engaddensis (burrowing asp) venom that affect the heart. Toxicon 1988;26(6):543–8.
- Takuwa Y, Kasuya Y, Takuwa N, Kudo M, Yanagisawa M, Goto K. Endothelin receptor is coupled to phospholipase C via pertussis toxin insensitive guanine nucleotide binding regulatory protein in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest 1990;85:653–8.
- Yanagisawa M, Kurihara H, Kimura S, Tomobe Y, Kobayashi M, Mitsui Y. A novel potent vasoconstrictor peptide produced by vascular endothelial cells. Nature 1988;332:411–5.
- Yoshimoto S, Ishizaki Y, Sasaki T, Murota S. Effect of carbon dioxide and oxygen on endothelin production by cultured porcine cerebral endothelial cells. Stroke 1991;22:378–83.
- Yu J, Davenport A. Secretion of endothelin-1 and endothelin-3 by human cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Br J Pharmacol 1995;114:551–7.